Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Journal of Hazardous Materials



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jhazmat

Application of advanced oxidation processes for TNT removal: A review

Kaidar Ayoub^a, Eric D. van Hullebusch^b, Michel Cassir^c, Alain Bermond^{a,*}

^a Laboratoire de Chimie Analytique, AgroParisTech, 16 Rue Claude Bernard, 75005 Paris, France

^b Université Paris-Est, Laboratoire Géomatériaux et Environnement, EA 4508, 5 bd Descartes, 77454 Marne la Vallée Cedex 2, France

^c Laboratoire d'Electrochimie Chimie des interfaces et de modélisation pour l'énergie (LECIME), Ecole Nationale Supérieure de Chimie de Paris,

11 rue Pierre et Marie Curie, 75005 France

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 17 December 2009 Received in revised form 10 February 2010 Accepted 10 February 2010 Available online 18 February 2010

Keywords: TNT Advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) By-products analysis Degradation pathways Kinetic constants

ABSTRACT

Nowadays, there are increasingly stringent regulations requiring drastic treatment of 2,4,6trinitrotoluene (TNT) contaminated waters to generate treated waters which could be easily reused or released into the environment without any harmful effects. TNT is among the most highly suspected explosive compounds that interfere with groundwater system due to its high toxicity and low biodegradability. The present work is an overview of the literature on TNT removal from polluted waters and soils and, more particularly, its treatability by advanced oxidation processes (AOPs).

Among the remediation technologies, AOPs constitute a promising technology for the treatment of wastewaters containing non-easily biodegradable organic compounds. Data concerning the degradation of TNT reported during the period 1990–2009 are evaluated in this review. Among the AOPs, the following techniques are successively debated: processes based on hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂ + UV, Fenton, photo-Fenton and Fenton-like processes), photocatalysis, processes based on ozone (O₃, O₃ + UV) and electrochemical processes. Kinetic constants related to TNT degradation and the different mechanistic degradation pathways are discussed. Possible future treatment strategies, such as, coupling AOP with biological treatment is also considered as a mean to improve TNT remediation efficiency and kinetic.

© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	I. Introduction		11		
2.	2. TNT		11		
	2.1. Structure and physicochemical properties of TNT		11		
	2.2. TNT: a toxic chemical compound		11		
3.	3. Physical and microbial processes for 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene degradation		11		
	3.1. Physical processes for TNT removal		12		
	3.2. Microbial degradation of TNT		12		
4.	4. Advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) as potential methods for TNT removal from contaminated environment		13		
	4.1. Degradation of TNT by advanced oxidation processes		13		
	4.1.1. Overview of the Fenton chemistry		13		
	4.1.2. Fenton process		13		
	4.1.3. Direct and indirect photolysis with UV		14		
	4.1.4. Photocatalysis with TiO ₂		15		
	4.1.5. Advanced oxidation reactions with Ozone and ultrasound irradiation		15		
	4.1.6. Advanced oxidation process with electrochemical reactions		18		
5.	5. Overview of degradation by-products		19		
6.	5. Conclusions		26		
	Acknowledgment				
	References				

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* bermond@agroparistech.fr (A. Bermond).

^{0304-3894/\$ -} see front matter 0 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.02.042

1. Introduction

Over the last 150 years, globally millions of tonnes of nitroaromatic explosives have been produced for military applications and activities leading to accidental release of energetic materials to the environment causing soil and groundwater contamination [1]. Especially after World War I and II, great amounts of unsafe and out-of-date ammunition were left. The most widely used explosive for military applications is 2,4,6-trinitritoluene (TNT).

The US Army alone has estimated that over 1.2 million tons of soils have been contaminated with explosives, and the impact of such contamination in other countries is of similar magnitude [2]. The concentration of TNT in "hot spots" of contaminated soil can reach 50 g kg⁻¹ soil [3], with the highest levels of TNT contamination directly located on or near the soil surface. In Canada, there were, in 2000, an estimated 103 training sites (air and land force bases) and three open burning/open detonation sites associated with activities involving TNT [4]. In Australia, some site characterization has been performed and also, in the rest of the world, the scope of the problem is significant [5]. For instance, countries that have suffered serious armed conflicts (e.g., recent wars in Africa, in the Middle East and in Eastern Europe) may be faced to similar problems, even though data on the extent of explosives contamination and the need to decontaminate polluted environments are not available. As a consequence, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) established a remediation goal of 17.2 mg kg^{-1} of TNT in soils (the Nebraska Ordnance Plant) [6], a rigorous ambient criterion of 0.06 mg L^{-1} [7] and a drinking water criterion be lower than 0.01 mg L⁻¹. Recently, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has proposed a lifetime health advisory level of $2 \mu g L^{-1}$ for TNT in drinking water [8].

2. TNT

2.1. Structure and physicochemical properties of TNT

TNT is synthesized from toluene by a nitration process and consists of a benzene ring with nitro groups on positions 2,4,6 and a methyl group (Fig. 1). During its synthesis, undesired non-symmetrical isomers are removed by sulphite washing and the final product contains a few percent of impurities [9].

Both oxygen and nitrogen are two highly electronegative elements where oxygen possesses the highest electro negativity. The result is polarized N–O bonds within the nitro groups, which make them easily reducible [10]

Regarding the value of the octanol–water partition coefficient ($\log K_{OW} = 1.6$) given in Table 1, it can be concluded that the TNT molecule has an intermediate character between hydrophobic and hydrophilic properties, and that the TNT will not be sorbed strongly in soil/sediment and, therefore, may be relatively mobile in the



Fig. 1. 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene.

Table 1

Physicochemical properties of TNT (adapted from Ek [104]).

CAS number	118-96-7
Chemical formula	$C_7H_5N_3O_6$
Molecular weight	227.13
Melting point	80.1 °C
Boiling point	240 °C
Water solubility at 20 °C	$130 \text{mg} \text{L}^{-1}$
Solubility in acetonitrile at 20 °C	100 g/100 g
Solubility in acetone at 20 °C	109 g/109
Vapour pressure	$1.99 imes 10^{-4} \text{ mm Hg}$
log K _{OW}	1.6
log K _{OC}	3.2
Henry's law constant (20°C)	4.57×10^{-7} atm-m ³ /mol

environment. As TNT has very low vapour pressure, it can be considered as absent from the atmosphere. That is why, nitroaromatics associated with munitions have generally not been detected in atmospheric monitoring studies [11].

The mobility of TNT in groundwater or soil has been extrapolated from sorption and desorption isotherms models determined with humic acids, in aquifer sediments, and soils [12–15]. Sorption coefficients values obtained from these modelled systems have shown a pH dependency for sorption onto humic acids, but generally predict rather good transport (low retention) for TNT.

2.2. TNT: a toxic chemical compound

In addition to its worldwide distribution, the toxicity of TNT and its degradation products are extensively documented. The estimate of TNT risk is based on the determination of its toxicity or ecotoxicity and the potential for exposure. The toxicity of this compound has been widely studied in recent years using aquatic organisms terrestrial species such as earthworms, mammals or human monocytes (Table 2). The diversity of toxicity values obtained shows the diversity of sensitivity for different organisms tested. Toxic doses can also vary depending on exposure conditions and exposure times, but a reference dose for human exposure may be determined from these data. The health recommendation of the USEPA is 0.001 mg of TNT per liter of drinking water [16].

In conclusion, the problem with TNT-contaminated sites is its potential impact on ecosystem and living organisms (human, fauna and flora). Contact with humans can be done either directly by ingestion of water or indirectly by ingestion of plants grown on contaminated soil or that been irrigated by polluted water. Beyond the attacks on human health, polluted sites can disrupt certain soil functions: support to human activities, economic support to agricultural production or to support the biodiversity of terrestrial ecosystems. Furthermore, it is important to control such pollution because TNT can spread and reach the water surface by runoff, and groundwater by seepage. In the best of our knowledge, there is no specific law concerning TNT polluted sites and soils in the French legislation. However, regulations that can be applied to soil pollution from industrial sources specify the following three points: the general policy of rehabilitation of sites, the polluter pays principle and policy of risk assessment.

3. Physical and microbial processes for 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene degradation

Nowadays due to the increasing presence of TNT, refractory to the microorganisms in the wastewater streams, the conventional physical and biological processes cannot be used for complete TNT removal. However, a brief overview of some works on TNT removal using these kinds of processes is given here below.

Table 2 TNT acute and chronic toxicity

INI	acute	and	chronic	toxicity.	
-----	-------	-----	---------	-----------	--

Toxicity	Value	Exposure time	Organisms tested	TNT concentrations	References
No observed concentration time (NOEC)	0.48 mg L ⁻¹ 110 mg kg ⁻¹ 2.3 mg L ⁻¹	28 days 14 days 48 h	Daphnia magna Eisenia foetida Brachinous calyciflorus	0.03–1.03 mg L ^{–1} 0, 25, 50, 100 or 200 mg -	[105] [106] [107]
Lowest observed concentration time (LOEC)	0.24 mg L ⁻¹ 150 mg kg ⁻¹ 5 mg L ⁻¹	28 days 14 days 48 h	Daphnia magna Eisenia foetida Brachinous calyciflorus	0.03–1.03 mg L ^{–1} 0, 25, 50, 100 or 200 mg -	[105] [106] [107]
Lethal concentration (LC50)	1.5–29 mg L ^{–1}	48 h	Brachionus calyciflorus, Lumbricus variegatus, Daphnia magna, and Hyallela azteca Tanytarsus dissimilis Ictalurus punctatus, Lepomis macrochirus, Pimephales promelas and Oncorhynchus mykiss		[108]
	0.46 mg L ⁻¹ 325 mg kg ⁻¹	96 h 14 days	L. macrochirus Eisenia foetida	0, 25, 50, 100 or 200 mg	[109] [106]

3.1. Physical processes for TNT removal

In the best of our knowledge, only few studies have been performed on the degradation of TNT by physical processes (i.e., sorption on activated carbon, catalytic sorption) in water. Indeed, Vasilyeva et al. [17] have investigated the TNT removal by activated carbon and further degradation. The analysis confirmed the presence of 2,4,6-trinitrobenzaldehyde (TNBAld) and 2,4,6trinitrobenzene (TNB) and provided strong evidence supporting 2,4,6-trinitrobenzyl alcohol (TNBAlc) as an intermediate of TNT degradation. However, data regarding the removal kinetic and mineralization under this process has not been reported in this paper.

Saupe et al. [18] conducted lab-scale experiments on the alkaline hydrolysis of TNT and a mixture of TNT and soil followed by thermal treatment of the hydrolysates. Four hours of alkaline hydrolysis $(T = 80 \circ C, initial pH 14)$ resulted in a complete deactivation of TNT and partial mineralization (90% of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) removal was achieved). Thus, the authors concluded that the alkaline hydrolyses of pure TNT was shown to be a safe deactivation process without detonation and with negligible gas production. The overall results suggest that alkaline hydrolysis followed by thermal and biological post treatment of the hydrolysates might be an efficient technology for the remediation of highly TNT-contaminated solution. But no by-products investigation was reported in the study of Saupe et al. [18]. Recently, Mills et al. [19] performed a kinetic study of the TNT removal rate under alkaline conditions and provided evidence that one of the molecules formed was a Meisenheimer complex.

In conclusion, the physical methods, such as cavitation, treatment with activated carbon, incineration techniques, alkaline hydrolysis and assisted soil washing with surfactants are very expensive and often require additional ex-situ treatment which may possibly produce new chemical by-products or waste gas emissions.

3.2. Microbial degradation of TNT

By definition, bioremediation is the use of living organisms, primarily microorganisms, to degrade the environmental contaminants into less toxic forms. It uses naturally occurring bacteria and fungi or plants to degrade or detoxify substances hazardous to human health and/or the environment. The microorganisms may be indigenous to a contaminated area or they may be isolated from elsewhere and brought to the contaminated site. Contaminant compounds are transformed by living organisms through reactions that take place as a part of their metabolic processes. Biodegradation of a compound is often a result of the actions of multiple organisms [20].

The bioremediation of explosives has been studied mainly with the objective of discovering microorganisms that may be inoculated in bio-reactor or directly *in situ* (bioaugmentation) in order to degrade the pollutant. Thus, many isolated microbial strains able to degrade or mineralize TNT have been identified from contaminated soils and waters [21]. Technologies based on biological processes have been developed for remediation of soils and waters contaminated by explosives. The main processes developed are bio-reactors seed with sludge, composting and "land farming" [10,22]. All these technologies require an ex-situ treatment, which means that the soil should be excavated. In all cases, intensive monitoring and a final evaluation of the remaining pollution are needed for taking into account the protection of the environment [23]. These treatments are adapted to highly explosives contaminated and hot spots. They are ill-suited to low and diffuse pollution.

In most of the described case, aerobic bacteria tend to transform the TNT molecule by reducing one or two nitro groups to hydroxylamino or amino groups and generate different isomers of amino nitroaromatic compounds, which in turn usually accumulate in the culture medium without further degradation. It has also been reported that partially reduced forms of TNT react between themselves, in the presence of oxygen, to form azoxytetranitrotoluene [24], which causes a higher rate of mutations than does the TNT itself. These transformation reactions remove TNT by yielding highly recalcitrant by-products that are not metabolizable by most of the microorganisms that produce them [25]. The aerobic bacteria are able to reduce two of the three NO₂ groups but reducing the third group requires anaerobic conditions. Anaerobic processes have the potential advantages of a rapid reduction at low redox potential, which minimizes oxidative polymerisation of substrates because of the absence of oxygen. This kind of TNT transformation results in the accumulation of triaminotoluene (TAT), but it is not sufficiently effective for bioremediation of contaminated sites [22].

Based on all these points, the TNT remediation of waters and soils is more than necessary. Consequently scientists and industrial companies are trying to find appropriate and effective processes for TNT removal. Therefore, there is a need to develop an effective advanced oxidation process (AOP) method based on the OH• production for the degradation of these pollutants leading either to less harmful biodegradable compounds or to their complete mineralization. This review therefore focuses on the evaluation of advanced oxidation processes used for the TNT degradation and compare their TNT removal efficiency. This paper discusses the advantages and disadvantages of these processes and suggests some strategies to improve the effectiveness of these treatments.

4. Advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) as potential methods for TNT removal from contaminated environment

The treatment with advanced oxidation processes appears as one of the most promising methods for the treatment of soils and waters contaminated by nitroaromatic compounds and particularly TNT. Most of these processes have been associated with the generation of radical species mainly hydroxyl radicals (OH•). Hydroxyl radical is a strong oxidizing agent ($E^{\circ} = 2.8$ vs. ENH at pH 0) able to react with organics and causing the ring opening. Unlike many other radicals, hydroxyl radicals is non-selective and thus readily attacks a large group of organic chemicals to convert them to less complex and less harmful intermediate products. At sufficient contact time and proper operation conditions, it is practically possible to mineralize the target pollutant to CO₂, which is the most stable end-product of chemical oxidation. The advantage of AOPs overall chemical and biological processes is that they are totally "environmental-friendly" as they neither transfer pollutants from phase to the other (as in chemical precipitation, adsorption, and volatilization) nor produce massive amounts of hazardous sludge [26]. The common AOPs developed for water and wastewater remediation and used for TNT removal are presented in Table 3. Some of these processes such as photolysis with more than 3000 applications in Europe as a disinfection process and a large number in the US for treating groundwater pollutants are commercially available [27].

Other processes such as combinations of H_2O_2 , O_3 , and UV, Fenton's reagent, and ionizing radiation have all been used for full scale applications. It should be noted that applications of AOPs in dual or triple combinations of individual processes offer significant kinetics and performance advantages. Methods of AOP employed in studying the degradability of TNT in water are displayed in Table 3.

4.1. Degradation of TNT by advanced oxidation processes

4.1.1. Overview of the Fenton chemistry

The oxidation processes based on the Fenton's reagent (hydrogen peroxide in the presence of a ferrous salt) have been used for the treatment of both organic and inorganic substances under laboratory conditions as well as real effluents from different resources like chemical manufacturers, refinery and fuel terminals, engine and metal cleaning, etc. [28]. The process is based on the formation of reactive oxidizing species, able to efficiently degrade the pollutants present in wastewater streams but the nature of these species is still under discussion and its formulation is a subject of controversy in

Main AOPs applied for TNT removal.

Table 3

the past and recent Fenton oxidation related literature [29-32].

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^{\bullet} + OH^{-}, \quad pH3, \quad k_1 = 70 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1} \quad (1)$$

$$Fe^{2+} + OH^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^{-}, \quad k_2 = 3.2 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1} \quad (2)$$

$$Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2 \cong Fe-OOH^{2+} + H^+, \quad k_3 = 0.001 - 0.1 M^{-1}$$
 (3)

$$Fe^{2+} + HO_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + HO_2, \quad k_4 = 1.3 \times 10^6 \,\text{M}^{-1} \,\text{s}^{-1} \,\text{atpH3}$$
 (4)

$$Fe^{3+} + HO_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + O_2 + H^+, \quad k_5 = 1.2 \times 10^6 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ atpH3}$$

$$OH^{\bullet} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow HO_2^{\bullet} + H_2O, \quad k_6 = 3.3 \times 10^7 \,\mathrm{M}^{-1} \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$$
 (6)

In the literature, three main reactive radical species have been observed. Two of them involve the presence of hydroxyl radicals (classical Fenton's chemistry) in either a 'free' or 'caged' form [33] whereas the third oxidant has been postulated to be aquo or organocomplexes of the high valence iron, the ferryl ion [34]. The rate of this reaction is strongly dependent on the presence of radical scavengers. It should be noted at this stage that both hydroxyl as well as ferryl complexes coexist in Fenton's mechanism and depending on the operating conditions (substrate nature, metal-peroxide ratio, scavengers addition, etc.), one of them will predominate. Nevertheless, the system can be most suitably applicable to discoloration and or removal of odor ingredients with good energy efficiency. Also, the oxidation system can be effectively used for the destruction of toxic wastes and non-biodegradable effluents to render them more suitable for a secondary biological treatment [35]. Venkatadri and Peters [36], Bigda [37,28] and Nesheiwat and Swanson [38] have written good informative papers on the basics of Fenton chemistry as well as its application to wastewater treatment.

4.1.2. Fenton process

Chen et al. [39] investigated the TNT mineralization of spent acid produced from toluene nitration process by Fenton oxidation, by studying firstly the effects of given additions of ferrous ions, hydrogen peroxide and temperature on the mineralization of 0.65 mM mixture of nitroaromatic compounds in solution spent acid. These authors concluded then, that the optimal conditions of $[Fe^{2+}]$, $[H_2O_2]$ and temperature are 0.06 M, 7.6 M and 343 K, respectively; but they did not gave details regarding the degradation mechanism under such Fenton system, and their study was focused on a classical mineralization pathway under UV/Fenton.

Advanced oxidation processes	Environment contaminated	References
Fenton	Ultrapure water Aqueous soil solution	[39,40,110] [51,52]
Fe ⁰ coupled to Fenton	Aqueous soil solution Ultrapure water Industrial TNT wastewater	[111] [112,113] [120]
Fenton like	Ultrapure water Aqueous soil solution	[93,114] [42,115]
UV/Fenton	Ultrapure water Aqueous soil solution	[38,47,49] [46,50]
UV/H ₂ O ₂ Photocatalysis with TiO ₂ Photocatalysis with TiO ₂ in presence of H ₂ O ₂ Photocatalysis by porphyrins O ₃ /H ₂ O ₂ UV/O ₃ Ultrasonic irradiation Electrochemical reduction Electro-Fenton	Ultrapure water Ultrapure water Ultrapure water Ultrapure water Spent acid Ultrapure water Ultrapure water Ultrapure water Ultrapure water	[39,45] [67,68,116,117] [66] [43] [44] [71] [75] [76,77,118] [89,90,100]

However, Fenton's oxidation was not, to the best of our knowledge, the subject of detailed TNT degradation mechanistic studies; this is why Ayoub et al. [40] were interested to: (i) study the influence of some parameters (i.e., Fe, H₂O₂) on TNT removal efficiency in the water by Fenton oxidation; (ii) determine apparent and absolute constant rates during TNT oxidation. They concluded that a ratio of $[H_2O_2]/[Fe^{2+}] = 10$ is required to obtain a rapid total TNT removal, (i.e., more than 98% removal rate was obtained using 0.5 mM, 2 mM and 20 mM of TNT, Fe(II) and H₂O₂, respectively). It should be noted that the ratio $[H_2O_2]/[Fe^{2+}]$ found in previous studies was also reported in the literature by other researchers during the treatment of phenols contaminated waters by Fenton process [41]. In contrast to what was previously showed in the literature, when Ayoub et al. [40] used a low $[H_2O_2]/[Fe^{2+}]$ molar ratio equal to 0.5 in presence of 1.25 mM Fe(II) and 0.625 mM H₂O₂, the TNT disappearance occurred in less than 30 min.

Matta et al. [42] studied Fenton-like oxidation of 0.11 mM TNT using different iron minerals (ferrihydrite, hematite, goethite, lepidocrocite, magnetite and pyrite) in aqueous solution. Fenton's reagent ($[H_2O_2] = 80 \text{ mM}$, [Fe(II)] = 1.55 mM and pH 3.0) was able to degrade TNT in solution ($k_{app} = 0.0348 \text{ min}^{-1}$). When using iron oxide as heterogeneous catalyst at pH 3 ($[H_2O_2] = 80 \text{ mM}$, [iron mineral] = 1.76 g L⁻¹), reaction rate constants were $k_{app} = 0.0055 \text{ min}^{-1}$ and $k_{app} = 0.2535 \text{ min}^{-1}$ for magnetite and pyrite, respectively, while ferric iron minerals were inefficient for TNT degradation. Matta et al. [42] showed that, when using pyrite as heterogeneous catalyst at pH 3, a rapid TNT abatement was registered but no TOC removal was recorded.

As a conclusion, it should be noted at this stage that both hydroxyl radicals as wall as iron (II) complexes coexist in Fenton's mechanism and depending fundamentally on the operating conditions (substrate nature, metal-peroxide ratio, scavengers addition, etc.), one of them will predominate. Exhaustive analyses of existing literature on application of Fenton oxidation was performed and indicates that the optimum condition for, pre-treated with zero-valent iron, TNT (0.24 mM) removal can be resumed to: 100% TOC and 92.2% N recovery by using a ratio $[H_2O_2]/[Fe^{2+}] = 5$ ($H_2O_2 = 25$ mM and Fe²⁺ = 5 mM at pH 3) within 2 h reaction times [112].

4.1.3. Direct and indirect photolysis with UV

UV photolysis has been one of the most widely investigated advanced oxidation method for TNT degradation based on the facts that UV irradiation is a common practice in drinking water process and photolysis is the main abiotic degradation pathway of organic matter in natural waters [43–45].

The following section is an overview and evaluation of such research carried out for TNT removal. Hwang et al. [45] employed UV/H2O2 advanced oxidation for the treatment of colored wastewater produced from alkaline hydrolysis of TNT-contaminated water. The effects of pH, and H_2O_2 dosage on the TNT removal were investigated and the authors showed that this treatment is able to decolorize the colored wastewater at the pHs studied (11.9, 6.5 and 2.5) within an reasonable treatment duration (i.e., less than 1 h). Enhanced decolorization was achieved with the increase in the H₂O₂ concentration and the decreased in the pH. Efficient decolorization and use of H₂O₂ were observed at pH 6.5 conditions. At pH 11.9, less decolorization was observed due to the scavenging properties of OH $^{\bullet}$ by CO₃^{2–}. Furthermore, when UV oxidation was coupled with 10 mg L^{-1} of $[H_2O_2]$ a 40% reduction of total organic carbon (TOC) concentration and 80% reduction in color intensity were indicated after 0.5-h reaction time.

Li et al. [46] studied the oxidation of 0.31 mM TNT by some processes (UV/Fenton at pH 3; UV+0.15 M H_2O_2 at pH 3; UV only at pH 3; Fenton reagent in the dark at pH 3; 0.15 M H_2O_2 in the dark at pH 3; no Fenton at pH 3 and UV/Fenton at unadjusted

pH). Li et al. [46] concluded that the oxidation efficiency decrease in the following order: UV/Fenton > Fenton reagent in the dark at pH 3 > UV/Fenton at unadjusted pH (6.1) > UV + 0.15 M H₂O₂ > UV only (dark). The TNT apparent rate constants were 0.017 min⁻¹, 0.031 min⁻¹, 0.04 min⁻¹ for UV/Fenton at unadjusted pH, dark Fenton and UV/Fenton, respectively. For both dark and UV-mediated Fenton treatments, complete TNT soil extract solution transformation was observed, and total TNT destruction by UV/Fenton was achieved within 1 h and more than 95% mineralization was realized, compared to 45% of mineralization rate and 8 h in dark-Fenton treatment.

Liou et al. [47] investigated the photo-Fenton reaction (pH 2.8) for 50 min, the remaining TNT concentrations in solution, using 0.36 mM and 1.44 mM of Fe(II) with 0.29 M H₂O₂ were 48.4% and 5.9%, respectively. The degradation reaction rate of TNT followed a pseudo-first-order behaviour and the rate constants were 0.0135 min⁻¹ and 0.0588 min⁻¹, respectively. This study was focused on the ways of improving the rate of TNT degradation and the possibility of using solar technologies in order to reduce operating costs by minimizing the energy consumption. Then, the oxidation rates significantly increased with increasing the concentration of Fe (II), as well as with the illumination with UV light. The TNT oxidation rate increased from 0.0588 min⁻¹ to 0.0918 min⁻¹, respectively for the Fenton and photo-Fenton processes when the Fe (II) concentration was increased to 1.44 mM. Liou et al. [47] concluded that in photo-Fenton systems, ferrous ion and ultraviolet light significantly affected: (i) the efficiency of TNT degradation: in fact, applying ultraviolet light induces the reduction of ferric ions and photolysis of hydrogen peroxide to decompose TNT [48]; (ii) the pseudo-first-order constant for TNT oxidation (k_n) : a higher ferrous concentration induces a slight increase k_p .

Then, Liou et al. [49] performed a series of UV only, UV/H₂O₂ and photo-Fenton reactions for the degradation of 0.01 mM TNT dissolved in ultra pure water ($[H_2O_2] = 0.29$ M, [Fe(II)] = 0.72 mM and pH 3.0). The results showed that the oxidation rates of TNT followed the sequence: 2.4 mW cm⁻² UV only < 2.4 mW cm⁻² UV/H₂O₂ < Fenton < photo-Fenton (2.4 mW cm⁻² UV) < photo-Fenton (4.7 mW cm⁻² UV). The authors studied also the effect of $[Fe^{2+}]$ and UV light on the TNT oxidation. In fact three concentrations of Fe²⁺ (1.44 mM, 2.88 mM and 4.32 mM) were applied for comparison between Fenton and photo-Fenton processes. It was observed that the degradation efficiency was promoted with either increasing Fe (II) concentration and/or by using a 2.4 mW cm⁻² UV, simultaneously.

The degradation reaction rate of TNT followed once again a pseudo-first-order behaviour; and the authors concluded that increasing the intensity of UV light and the concentrations of ferrous ions promoted the oxidation rate under their experimental conditions.

Recently, Yardin and Chiron [50] studied the technical feasibility and performance of coupling flushing abilities of cyclodextrin (methylated- β -cyclodextrin, MCD) solutions for 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) removal from contaminated soil. TNT in soil extract solution has been treated by photo-Fenton ($H_2O_2 = 30 \text{ mM}$, $Fe^{2+} = 0.25 \text{ mM}$, TNT = 0.43 mM). A value of $0.130 \,\mathrm{min^{-1}}$ for k_{app} of TNT degradation reaction in distilled water was determined. Presence of dissolved natural organic matter (DOM) in the TNT soil extract solution obtained by soil flushing with distilled water resulted in inhibited degradation $(k_{app} = 0.081 \text{ min}^{-1})$ as compared to a distilled water TNT solution. This result was mainly due to hydroxyl radical scavenging properties of dissolved organic matter in soil extract solution obtained by soil flushing with cyclodextrins, the apparent rate constant has increased by a factor of 1.3 ($k_{app} = 0.175 \text{ min}^{-1}$) compared to what was observed with TNT degradation in distilled water. This experiment clearly shows that MCD increases TNT degradation rate

even in presence of a large excess of MCD and organic matter. Li et al. [51] determined the potential of combining Fenton oxidation with soil washing to remediate TNT-contaminated soil (0.52 M H_2O_2 , 1.44 mM Fe²⁺ and pH 3.0). Complete destruction of TNT was achieved within 8 h for solutions containing <0.66 mM TNT and within 24 h for 0.8 mM and 0.92 mM TNT. First-order rate constant for TNT transformation ranged from 0.007 min⁻¹ and 0.024 min⁻¹, depending on the initial concentration. More than 40% of the TNT was mineralized during 24 h by Fenton treatment. In contrast to Yardin and Chiron [50], when cyclodextrin is introduced, complete mineralization of Soil extraction solutions was not achieved (60% of abatement of TOC value after 11 h oxidation).

Several authors focused on the ways to improve the rate of TNT degradation and the possibility to use solar technologies in order to reduce operating costs by minimizing the energy consumption [52,47,49,50]. In this case, the goals were to accelerate TNT degradation and promote a rapid oxidation of TNT intermediates without having the ability to detect all by-products, because of their accumulation and their rapid disappearance. In addition, the oxidation rates significantly increased with increasing the concentration of Fe (II), as well as illumination with UV light.

Based on the detailed and critical analysis of the existing literature on the TNT removal, photolysis process appears to be an effective oxidation technique but remains still expensive because of the need to use an energy source. The important operating parameters which affect the overall destruction and mineralization efficiency of the UV oxidation were both UV intensity and concentration of Fenton parameters. One can conclude that UV (21 W cm^{-1})/Fenton ($H_2O_2 = 0.15 \text{ M}$ and [Fe^{2+}] = 0.72 mM at pH adjusted to 3) was the best identified technology involving more than 95% of mineralization efficiency in 1 h treatment.

4.1.4. Photocatalysis with TiO₂

Photocatalytic or photochemical degradation processes are gaining importance in the area of wastewater treatment, since these processes result in complete organics mineralization with operation at mild conditions of temperature and pressure. There are good reviews available on this subject by [53-55] covering the analysis of the studies prior to 1995 and depicting basics of the processes including the oxidation mechanism of pollutants in details. The photo-activated chemical reactions are characterized by a free radical mechanism initiated by the interaction of photons of a proper energy level with the molecules of chemical species present in the solution, with or without the presence of the catalyst. The radicals can be easily produced using UV radiation by the homogenous photochemical degradation of oxidizing compounds like hydrogen peroxide and ozone. An alternative way to obtain free radicals is the photocatalytic mechanism occurring at the surface of semiconductors (like titanium dioxide) and this indeed substantially enhances the generation rate of free radicals and hence the rates of degradation [56]. A major advantage of the photocatalytic oxidation based processes is the possibility to effectively use sunlight or near UV light [57-65] for irradiation, which should result in considerable economic savings especially for large-scale operations.

Dillert et al. [66] studied the TNT degradation in irradiated ($\lambda = 320 \text{ nm}$) homogeneous solutions and in TiO₂ suspensions by varying the concentration of hydrogen peroxide and the pH, and showed that, in neutral and alkaline solution (absence of H₂O₂), 78% and 57% of the initial TNT have reacted within 2 h at pH 7 and 11, respectively. But with 0.1 mM of H₂O₂ 72% and 56% of TNT have been degraded at the same pHs. However, in TiO₂ suspensions, the degradation rate is enhanced significantly compared with homogeneous solutions at all investigated pHs. Only at pH 11, a slight increase in reaction rate was observed with increasing concentrations of H₂O₂. Then it is important to note that the initial reaction

rate of the photocatalytic degradation in the absence of H_2O_2 is hardly affected by the pH of suspension and addition of H_2O_2 to the suspension results in more pronounced effect of the pH on the reaction rate.

Schmelling and Gray [67] investigated the photocatalytic transformation and mineralization of TNT (initial experiments conditions TNT = 0.22 mM, $O_2 = 40.0 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ and $\lambda > 340 \text{ nm}$) in 250 mg L^{-1} TiO₂ slurries. The results demonstrate that TiO₂ photocatalysis using near UV radiation may be highly effective in the remediation of TNT-contaminated waters and can achieve almost complete mineralization. On the same outline, Son et al. [68] examined the effects of various parameters such as the initial TNT concentration and the initial pH, on the degradation rate in both presence of UV light illumination and TiO₂ catalyst. They concluded that the reaction rate also obeys to pseudo-first-order kinetics according to the Langmuir-Hinshelwood kinetic model, the percentage decreases in TNT concentration, resulting from the photolysis and photocatalytic reaction performed for 150 min, were 72% and 100%, respectively (after the same time period, the decreases in TOC concentrations were 40% and 80%).

Harmon [43] studied briefly the TNT photocatalytic demethylation by using tetraphenyl porphyrin sulfonate (TPPS). In fact, illumination of tetraphenyl porphyrin sulfonate TPPS, CuTPPS and FeTPPS in solution with 0.53 μ M of TNT at pH 7 at room temperature using a tungsten lamp degrades TNT to trinitrobenzoic acid and trinitrobenzene. The rate of TNT degradation follows the series TPPS > FeTPPS > CuTPPS.

4.1.5. Advanced oxidation reactions with Ozone and ultrasound irradiation

Ozone is a very powerful oxidizing agent ($E^{\circ} = 2.07 \text{ V}$) able to react with most of the species containing multiple bonds (such as C=C, C=N, N=N, etc.), [69,70], but not with the single bonded functions, such as C-C, C-O, O-H at high rates. This is mainly due to the fact that there is no easy chemical pathway for the oxidation to take place. However, ozone does react with simple oxidizable ions such as S^{2-} , to form oxy-anions such as SO_3^{2-} and SO_4^{2-} . These oxidations are simple and the mechanisms only require contact of ozone with the ion. Consequently, the oxidation of these ions by ozone occurs rapidly. It is sometimes better to think of ozone as a highly reactive species capable of reacting with many species rather than just as a compound with a large reduction potential. This is because the practical action of ozone is often dependent on how it reacts with pollutants, and usually not in its ability to simply gain electrons (except in the case of simple ion oxidations). This idea emphasizes that an appropriate reaction pathway must exist for ozone to react with a substrate. In other words, although the thermodynamics for ozone induced oxidation may be favourable (due to ozone's high reduction potential), kinetic factors will most often dictate whether ozone will oxidize a pollutant in a reasonable time frame.

In this context and in the best of our knowledge only Wu et al. [44] have investigated the effects of some ions on TNT removal by O_3/H_2O_2 through the selection of HCO_3^- , $HCOO^-$, Cu^{2+} and Al^{3+} . In view of the kinetic constants, the authors concluded that HCO_3^- , $HCOO^-$ and Cu^{2+} have the ability of reducing of O_3/H_2O_2 efficiency with the following order $HCOO^- > HCO_3^- > Cu^{2+}$. However, Al^{3+} is an exception, because it has a potential to improve the efficiency. Also, when the two selected ions coexist, HCO_3^- and $HCOO^-$ inhibit the efficacy. The inhibition is greater than that of each one alone, and also greater than their sum. The inhibition of Cu^{2+} coexisting with $HCOO^-$ also is greater than that for each alone, but smaller than their sum. The integrated effect of Al^{3+} and $HCOO^-$ follows the addition effect.

Chen et al. [71] have employed O₃ and UV/O₃ to mineralize TNT in spent acid from toluene nitration process. According

Table 4

Summary of reaction conditions for TNT removal from water and soil solution by AOPs.

TNT	Reactions conditions	Some aspects of results	Elimination rate	References
Fenton and Fenton-like system				
0.5 mM	[Fe ²⁺] = 1.25 mM, [H ₂ O ₂] = 0.625 mM, V = 0.5 L, pH	$k_{\rm app}$ of TNT = 0.034–0.038 min ⁻¹	95% of TNT in 20 min	[40]
0.3, 0.2, 0.15, 0.1, 0.05 mM	[Fe ²⁺] = 0.72 mM, [H ₂ O ₂] = 0.29 M at pH 3	$K_{\rm abs} = 9.6 - 10 \times 10^8 {\rm M}^{-1} {\rm s}^{-1}$ $k_{\rm app} = 0.0085, 0.0096, 0.11, 0.14$ and 0.21 min ⁻¹ for 0.3, 0.2, 0.15,		[110]
0.65 mM (mixture of nitroaromatic	[Fe ²⁺]=0.06 M, [H ₂ O ₂]=4 M at pH –1.4 (spent acid)	0.1, 0.05 mM TNT, respectively		[39]
compounds) 0.11 mM	2 M H ₂ O ₂ (30%, w/v), iron minerals (2 g/L) at pH 7:		40% of TNT in 23 h	[115]
0.11 mM	hematite, ferrihydrite, lepidocrocite, goethite, magnetite, pyrite, green rust. EDTA = 10 mM, CMCD = 5 mM $[H_2O_2] = 80 mM, Fe^{2+} = 1.55 mM$ at pH 3; iron mineral = $1.76 g L^{-1}$ (hematite, ferrihydrite, lepidocrocite, goethite, magnetite, pyrite,	$k_{ m app}$ = 0.0348 min ⁻¹	58% of TNT in 48 h	[42]
0.3 and 0.31 mM	$[Fe^{2+}] = 80 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$, 2% H_2O_2 at pH 3		Dark conditions: 40% of TNT in 24 h. Exposure light:	[51,52]
0.24 mM	H ₂ O ₂ /Fe ²⁺ 5:1 (a-25 mM/5 mM and b-5 mM/1 mM)		>90% of TNT in 24 h 95% of TNT under H ₂ O ₂ /Fe ratio 5:1	[112]
0.68 mM	H_2O_2/Fe^{2+} 5:1 (500/100 mg L ⁻¹) at pH 3		95.5% of COD reduction	[113]
0.22 mM	7–30 mM of H ₂ O ₂ (30%, w/v) and Fe ³⁺ = 0.5 mM		100% of TNT in 2 h	[93]
0.3 and 0.31 mM	[Fe ²⁺] = 80 mg L ⁻¹ and 2% H ₂ O ₂ at pH 3	k _{app} = 71% higher at 45 °C than at room temperature (data not shown)	40% of TNT at 27°C	[51]
$400 mg kg^{-1}$	2% (w/w) Fe ⁰ , 1% H ₂ O ₂ , Fenton reagents (80 mg L ⁻¹ , 0.125% H ₂ O ₂ or 0.2% CaO ₂)			[111]
Direct and indirect photolysis w	rith UV			
0.65 mM (mixture of	$[Fe^{2+}] = 0.06 \text{ M}, [H_2O_2] = 4 \text{ M} \text{ at}$		78% of TOC in 6 h at 343 K	[39]
nitroaromatic compounds)	pH – 1.4 (spent acid), 12 low-pressure mercury vapour lamps (8 W each) at the		under UV/Fenton. 72% of TOC under UV/ H_2O_2	
0.88 mM	wavelength 254 nm $[Fe^{2+}] = 0.25 \text{ mM},$ $[H_2O_2] = 30 \text{ mM} \text{ at pH 3}.$ Mercury lamp (150 W) at wavelength 254 nm, [MCD] = 5 mM.	k_{app} = was 0.13 min ⁻¹ in distilled water	95% of TOC in 4 h in distilled water. 60% of TOC in 11 h in soil flushing	[50]
$10^{-5} \mathrm{M}$	[MCD] = 5 mM [Fe ²⁺] = 0.72 mM, [H ₂ O ₂] = 0.29 M at pH 3, eight low-pressure mercury lamps of 10 W:2.4 mW cm ⁻² and 4.7 mW cm ⁻²	$k_{app} = 0.002, 0.007, 0.014,$ 0.025, and 0.037 min ⁻¹ . for 2.4 mW cm ⁻² UV, 2.4 mW cm ⁻² UV/H ₂ O ₂ , Fenton, 2.4 mW cm ⁻² UV/Fenton and 4.7 mW cm ⁻² UV/Fenton respectively		[49]
0.42 mM	[Fe ²⁺] = 0.36 mM, 1.44 mM, [H ₂ O ₂] = 0.29 M at pH 3, light source: 40 W ultraviolet lamp with peak wavelength of 254 nm	$k_{\rm app} = 0.0359$ and 0.0918 min ⁻¹ for 0.360 and 1.44 mM of Fe (II), respectively		[47]
$3\times 10^{-4}mM$	[H ₂ O ₂] = 10, 50, 100 and 300 mg L ⁻¹ at 40 W m ⁻² UV radiation intensity		40% of TOC in 30 min. 80% of decolorization in 30 min at (UV/H ₂ O ₂ = 10 mg/L and pH 6.5)	[45]
0.31 mM	1.8 < Fe < 28.6 mM (as pyrite), [H ₂ O ₂] = 0.015-0.029 M Classic Fenton (1.8 mM of Fe(II) as ferrous iron + 0.029-0.29 M H ₂ O ₂ at pH 3. Artificial light source of 200 W	$\begin{array}{l} k_{app} = 0.06, 0.13, 0.23, 0.29, \\ 0.57, 0.82 h^{-1} {\rm for} 1.8, 3.6, 5.4, \\ 7.2, 14.4, 28.8 {\rm of} {\rm Fe}^{2+} {\rm and} \\ 0.015 {\rm M} {\rm of} {\rm H}_2 {\rm O}_2. k_{app} = 0.05, \\ 0.14, 0.25, 0.31, 0.49, 0.78 h^{-1} \\ {\rm for} 1.8, 3.6, 5.4, 7.2, 14.4, 28.8 \\ {\rm of} {\rm Fe}^{2+} {\rm and} 0.029 {\rm M} {\rm of} {\rm H}_2 {\rm O}_2 \end{array}$		[114]
$500{ m mgkg^{-1}}{\sim}0.31{ m mM}$	$[Fe^{2+}] = 0.72 \text{ mM}$ and 0.15 M, $[H_2O_2] = 0.29 \text{ M}$ at various pHs 3, 5.7 and 6, and 21 mW cm ⁻² UV radiation intensity	$k_{ m app}$ = 0.04, 0.031 and 0.017 min ⁻¹ for UV/Fenton at pH 3, dark Fenton and UV/Fenton	95% of TOC in 24 h in UV medium. 45% of TOC in 24 h under dark-Fenton system	[46]

K. Ayoub et al. / Journal of Hazardous Materials 178 (2010) 10-28

Table 4 (Continued)

TNT	Reactions conditions	Some aspects of results	Elimination rate	References
Photocatalytic processes 0.53 µM	0.05 M sodium phosphate buffer at pH 7 with 16 μ M TPPS, 10 μ M FeTPPS, or 10 μ M CuTPPS and 3 × 10 ⁻⁴ W cm ⁻²			[43]
0.13 mM	UV radiation [TiO ₂]= 1.0 g/L, UV = 8.2 mW cm ⁻² (254 nm) at pH 7		40% of TNT in 150 min under photolysis. 80% of TNT in 150 min under	[68]
0.175 mM	$[O_2] = 40 \text{ mg/L},$ radiation > 340 nm and	$k_{app} = 2.5 \text{ h}^{-1}$ with TiO ₂ and $k_{app} = 1.2 \text{ h}^{-1}$ with absence of	photocatalysis 92% of COD in aerobic conditions using TiO ₂ -light	[67]
0.1 mM	$IIO_2 = 250 \text{ Hig L}$ $IIO_2 = 1.0 \text{ g L}^{-1}$,	1102	>3401111	[66]
0.22 mM	$0 < H_2O_2 < 1 \text{ mM}, 3 < pH < 11$ $[O_2] = 40 \text{ mg L}^{-1},$ radiation > 340 nm, $[TiO_2] = 250 \text{ mg L}^{-1},$ bicarbonate (10-100 mM), nitrate (10 mM), chloride	$k_{app} = 5, 5.2, 5.1, 4.8, 3.9, 4.9 h^{-1}$ for no salt, nitrate (10 mM), chloride (10 mM), bicarbonate (10 mM), bicarbonate (100 mM), borate (10 mM),		[116]
0.13 mM	(10 mM) at 5.5 < pH < 7.5 $[TiO_2] = 1.0 \text{ g L}^{-1}$, (4 UV lamps and 5 photo-reactors columns) with a 40 W at 254 nm. pH at 3, 5 and 7	respectively $k_{app} = 0.0173, 0.0422, 0.0451 min-1 at pH 3, 5, 7, respectively. k_{app} was the fastest at pH 11$	82% of TNT in 150 min at pH 7 with [TiO ₂] = 1.0 g L ⁻¹	[117]
Ozone and ultrasound irradiation 0.13 mM	processes $1.19 < [HCO_3^-] < 3.54 \text{ mol } L^{-1},$ $10^{-4} < [HCOO^-] < 2 \times 10^{-4} \text{ mol } L^{-1},$ $3.13 \times 10^{-3} < [Cu^{2+}] < 3.125 \times 10^{-2} \text{ mol } L^{-1}$ and $2 - 10^{-3} < [A13^+] < 8.00 - 10^{-3}.$			[44]
-	Ultrasonic frequency = 20 and 500 kHz	$k_{obs} = 1.67 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$ with O ₂ , $4.5 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$, with (Ar) and $1.88 \times 10^{-4} \text{ s}^{-1}$ with O ₂ /O ₃ . At 500 kHz $k_{obs} = 2 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$ with O ₂ , 7.17 $\times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$, with (Ar) and $8.5 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$ with O ₂ /O ₃		[75]
1 mM (calculated from available data)	Spent acid medium (mixture of nitroaromatic compounds) at pH -1.4, 12 low-pressure mercury vapour lamps (8 W each) at 254 nm. $0 < O_3 < 3.8 \text{ g h}^{-1}$. (UV/O ₃ /Fe ²⁺): $0 < Fe^{2+} < 0.1 \text{ M}$		Complete TNT removal under UV/O ₃ (96 W/3.8 g h ⁻¹ and T°C = 212 K) conditions (data not shown)	[71]
Electrochemical processes			An annual in the CO 100%	[76]
0.3 mM	Salt concentration $[Na_2SO_4] = 36 g L^{-1}$, pH 8, applied current: $I = 23-65$ mA, electrode: glassy carbon (67.5 cm ²) and dissolved oxygen: 0.2 mg L ⁻¹ (anoxic), 8.4 mg L ⁻¹ (oxic)		An approximate 60–100% of TNT under oxic conditions	[76]
0.3 mM	Electrolyte solution 6–9 mM of Na ₂ SO ₃ in the anode (platinium wire) compartment of the reactor, glassy carbon (cathode), <i>I</i> = 75–300 mA at pH 8		85–92% of TNT with two electrolytes sodium sulphate and lithium sulphate at 3.53 mM	[77]
4×10^{-3} to 0.088 mM	New type of electrode (tin carbon particles) $[NaCl] = 0.5 M$			[118]
0.12 and 0.22 mM	Electrochemical assisted photocatalytic degradation of TNT with TiO ₂ -biased at +1.1 V vs. NHE at wavelength >340 nm and pH 5.1. Cds:TiO ₂ as coupled photocatalysts	$k_{app} = 1, 0.87, 0.93, 0.93 h^{-1}$ for 0, +0.1, +0.6, +1.1 (V/vs. NHE), respectively		[119]
Spent acid (mixture of nitroaromatic compounds, TNT concentration not given)	$0 < O_2 < 140 \text{ mL min}^{-1}$, $0 < Fe^{2+} < 300 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$, $50 < H_2SO_4 < 74 (wt\%)$ and EP/voltage = 6 V (The batch wise mode under atmospheric pressure both cathode and anode plates were made of corrosion-resistant platinum of 99.9% purity with $2.0 \text{ cm} \times 2.0 \text{ cm} \times 0.1 \text{ cm}$)		Complete mineralization of TNT under the conditions of cell voltage = 6 V, T = 343 K, O ₂ = 120 ml min ⁻¹ and Fe ²⁺ = 100 mg L ⁻¹ (data not shown)	[100]

Table 4 (Continued)

TNT	Reactions conditions	Some aspects of results	Elimination rate	References
Spent acid (mixture of nitroaromatic compounds, TNT concentration not given)	$0 < O_2 < 140 \text{ mL min}^{-1}$, $0 < \text{Fe}^{2+} < 300 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$, $323 < T^\circ C < 343 \text{ K}$, $50 < \text{H}_2 \text{SO}_4 < 74 \text{ (wt%) and}$ 2 < EP/voltage < 8 V (a batch wise mode under atmospheric pressure: both cathode and anode plates were made of corrosion-resistant platinium of 99.9% purity with $2.0 \text{ cm} \times 2.0 \text{ cm} \times 0.1 \text{ cm}$)		Complete mineralization of TOC can be achieved under the conditions of cell voltage = $6 V$, $T = 343 K$, $O_2 = 120 ml min^{-1}$ and $H_2SO_4 = 50 wt\%$ (data not available)	[89]
0.2 mM	[Fe ³⁺] = 0.2 mM, 60 < 1 < 250 mA, electrolyte Na ₂ SO ₄ = 50 mM, pH 3 (glassy carbon for cathode) (60 cm ² and anode platinium)	$k_{app} = 0.26, 0.38, and$ 0.54 min ⁻¹ for 60, 100 and 250 mA, respectively	90% of TNT was achieved after 6 h of treatment	[90]

to these authors, nearly complete mineralization of TNT can be achieved by ozonation $(3 \text{ g h}^{-1} \text{ combined with UV}=96 \text{ W} \text{ intensities sources at the wavelength of }254 \text{ nm})$. Nevertheless, they concluded that hydroxyl radicals would not be generated by either ozone decomposition or photolysis of ozone under these experimental conditions.

However, the ultrasonic irradiation consisting in introducing a high power ultrasound (i.e., sound energy with frequencies in the range 15 kHz to 1 MHz) into liquid reaction mixtures is known to cause a variety of chemical transformations [72]. The chemical effects of ultrasound on chemical reaction were first reported by Richards and Loomis [73]. This early report was followed by a detailed investigation of the catalytic effect of ultrasonic irradiation on the auto-oxidation of iodide ion [74]. Since then the application of ultrasound on chemical as a catalyst in chemical synthesis has become an important field of research. For instance, Hoffmann et al. [75] investigated the ultrasonic irradiation for the degradation of chemical contaminants in water and showed that the sonochemical TNT degradation (no concentration reported) followed an apparent pseudo-first-order rate, which varied with the nature of the dissolved gases and the ultrasonic frequencies. In fact, at 20 kHz, $k_{obs} = 1.67 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$ with O₂, $4.5 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$, with (Ar) and $1.88 \times 10^{-4} \text{ s}^{-1}$ with O_2/O_3 . However, the rates constants registered at 500 kHz are $k_{obs} = 2 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$ with O₂, 7.17 × 10⁻⁵ s⁻¹, with (Ar) and 8.5 × 10⁻⁵ s⁻¹ with O₂/O₃. Ultrasonic irradiation at 500 kHz yielded consistently higher degradation efficiencies than 20 kHz irradiation for all background gases.

4.1.6. Advanced oxidation process with electrochemical reactions

Doppalapudi et al. [76] and Palaniswamy et al. [77] studied the TNT electrochemical reduction and performed several experiments to evaluate the process efficiency. Indeed, they showed that the electrochemical processes can be successfully used for TNT reduction and readily taking place under both oxic and anoxic conditions. The kinetic rates increased with the increase in current, but at higher density currents (0.79 mA cm⁻² and 0.96 mA cm⁻²), mass transfer rates governed the reduction rates under both oxic and anoxic conditions.

However, in the last years the indirect electro-oxidation method known as electro-Fenton was developed for wastewater remediation [78–82]. It consists in the continuous supply of H_2O_2 to an acidic contaminated solution from the two-electron reduction of O_2 gas at a carbonaceous cathode:

$$O_2(g) + 2H^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow H_2O_2$$
 (7)

Thus H_2O_2 generated reacts with Fe^{2+} present in the solution to produce hydroxyl radical (OH•) and Fe^{3+} by means of Fenton's reaction (8) with a second-order rate constant (k_8) of 63 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ [83]:

 $Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^{\bullet} + OH^{-}$ (8)

OH• is the second strongest oxidizing agent known after fluorine and can react rapidly with organic pollutants with k_8 -values of $10^8 - 10^{10} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, yielding dehydrogenated or hydroxylated products up to total mineralization into CO₂, water and inorganic ions. The Fe³⁺/Fe²⁺ system is catalytic, since Fe²⁺ can be regenerated mainly from the reduction of Fe³⁺ at the cathode from reaction (9) [84], and in smaller extent by H₂O₂ from reaction (10) with $k_{10} = 8.4 \times 10^{-6} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ [85], by hydroperoxyl radical (HO₂•), a weaker oxidant than OH• from reaction (11) with $k_{11} = 7.8 \times 10^5 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ [86] and/or by organic radical intermediates R• from reaction (12):

$$Fe^{3+} + e^- \rightarrow Fe^{2+} \tag{9}$$

$$Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + H^+ + HO_2^{\bullet}$$
 (10)

$$Fe^{3+} + HO_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + H^+ + O_2$$
 (11)

$$\mathbf{R}^{\bullet} \to \mathbf{F}\mathbf{e}^{2+} + \mathbf{R}^{+} \tag{12}$$

However, a part of OH• is lost by its direct reaction with Fe²⁺ from reaction (13) with $k_{13} = 3.2 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ [87] and with H₂O₂ from reaction (14) with $k_{14} = 2.7 \times 10^7 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ [88]. The rate of Fenton's reaction (8) [75] may also decay by oxidation of Fe²⁺ in the presence of HO₂°, as shown in reaction (15) with $k_{15} = 1.2 \times 10^6 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ [86]. This can also be noted for the anode (reaction (16)) when an undivided cell is used:

$$\mathrm{Fe}^{2+} + \mathrm{OH}^{\bullet} \rightarrow \mathrm{Fe}^{3+} + \mathrm{OH}^{-} \tag{13}$$

$$H_2O_2 + OH^{\bullet} \rightarrow HO_2^{\bullet} + H_2O \tag{14}$$

$$Fe^{2+} + HO_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + HO_2^{-}$$
 (15)

$$\mathrm{F}\mathrm{e}^{2+} \rightarrow \mathrm{F}\mathrm{e}^{3+} + \mathrm{e}^{-} \tag{16}$$

In this context, Chen and Liang [89] studied the TNT decomposition by electro-Fenton oxidation. The electrolytic experiments were carried out to elucidate the influence of various operating parameters on the performance of mineralization of TOC in spent acid, including reaction temperature, additions of oxygen, sulfuric acid concentration and ferrous ions. According to these authors, electro-Fenton's reagent was verified to be an effective oxidant for mineralization of TNT. Besides, it is remarkable that the nearly complete mineralization of TOC can be achieved under the conditions of cell voltage = 6 V, T = 343 K, $O_2 = 120$ mLmin⁻¹ and [Fe²⁺] = 100 mg L⁻¹, which abate partial amounts of water of spent acid simultaneously. This method reveals that the electrolytic technique established may be utilized to regenerate spent acid in practice. In the same way, Murati et al. [90] investigated the effect of the current on the 0.2 mM of TNT degradation and observed a complete one after 20 min under 60 mA. TOC removal was achieved after 8 h treatment. The pseudo-first-order reaction rate constants, $k_{\rm app}$, were calculated from linear regression of the pseudo-first-order kinetic model with related coefficients higher than 0.98. For the three current intensities investigated, rate constants of 0.26 min⁻¹, 0.38 min⁻¹ and 0.54 min⁻¹ were found respectively for 60 mA, 100 mA and 250 mA.

Throughout this review, it was found that differences in the applied experimental conditions in different studies process are the principle reasons for variations in final outputs and conclusions. Although descriptive experimental features of the papers discussed in Section 4 have already been specified in the text, a comparative list of all is given in Table 4. This latter show that a slight variation of the apparent rates is more than obvious and this difference is due to the difference in operating conditions used (concentration iron, H₂O₂, the use of UV radiation and TNT concentration). Apparent rates range found by Ayoub et al. [40] under Fenton (0.034-0.038 min⁻¹) is similar to that in UV/Fenton of Liou et al. [47] and Li et al. [46] (0.036 min⁻¹ and 0.04 min⁻¹, respectively) and to Fenton-like system, Matta et al. [42] $(0.0348 \text{ min}^{-1})$. But these values are different from what was found by electro-Fenton process according to Murati et al. [90]. In fact, apparent rate of 0.38 min^{-1} 10 times higher was obtained when applying 100 mA, therefore, TNT degradation was faster. However, these rates are completely different from those obtained using a biological process; indeed, Brannon and Myers [91], cited in a report addressed to US Army Corps of Engineers, presented that the first-order rate coefficients of TNT were $8.84\times10^{-4}\,min^{-1}$ and $2.76\times10^{-4}\,min^{-1}$ for TNT abiotic and biotic, respectively under aerobic degradation conditions, and were of $8.83 \times 10^{-4} \text{ min}^{-1}$ and 0.001 min^{-1} for TNT abiotic and biotic respectively under anaerobic degradation conditions. Thus, these results confirm those cited in the literature, about the slowness of the biological treatment for TNT removal.

Furthermore, we can observe that in the majority of the works, more than 71% of TNT removal was achieved using photolysis, photocatalysis, Fenton, UV/Fenton and electro-Fenton. Regarding Table 4, electro-Fenton and electrochemical reduction processes appear to be only effective for the TNT mineralization (92% and 95% for the reduction and electro-Fenton, respectively).

5. Overview of degradation by-products

One of the major concerns with TNT destruction by AOP are the final oxidation products, because in some cases the products might still exert endocrine activity and/or might be more toxic than the parent compound [92].

Indeed, the SPE LC–MS–MS analysis made by Ayoub et al. [40], under Fenton process revealed four aromatic intermediates: 2,4,6trinitrobenzaldehyde; 2,4,6-trinitro-cyclohexa-2,4-dienol, 2,4,6trinitrobenzylalcohol and dinitro-hydroxy-benzaldehyde isomers. It is worth noting that these authors did not detect any trinitrobenzoic acid or trinitrobenzene compounds as compared with owned standards. It was previously demonstrated that the two last compounds resulted from a further degradation of trinitrobenzaldehyde ([39,49]) and it may be hypothesized that these compounds (or their NO₂/OH substituted analogs) could be formed later. Furthermore, picric acid or reduction products (e.g., aminoones) were not observed in conditions mentioned above, although cited by other authors under various AOPs. Fig. 2 summarizes all the by-products found by Fenton and combined metallic iron and Fenton processes. No similarity was observed between these byproducts obtained in each case. This can be attributed to the fact that, in the case of combined processes, the first step is the reduction of nitro groups and not the TNT oxidation which is the case in the Fenton process.

The formation of active intermediates from the Fenton-like reagent (a mixture of iron (III) ions and hydrogen peroxide) in aqueous or soil solutions has been also studied. In fact, Hess et al. [93] have tentatively identified, by electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (ESI-MS–MS), hydroperoxide adducts as: 4,6-dinitro-o-cresol (DNOC); subsequent oxidation leads to 3,5-dinitropheny-6-methylene-1-one. Another pathway was studied and consisted in obtaining trinitrobenzene, which oxidized to form TNB-hydroperoxide. After that, a sequential denitration leads to dinitrophenol followed by dihydroxynitrobenzene. The third denitration of the last product forms a phloroglucinol. This research provides further evidence for the existence of reduced oxygen radical species apparently responsible for the degradation of highly oxidized organic compounds, the result was confirmed by Ayoub et al. [40].

Under the same reagent (Fenton-like), the analyses by LC/MS in negative electrospray ionization mode, performed by Matta et al. [42] revealed the presence of 4 major by-products. Oxidative degradation of TNT involves a hydroxyl radical attack on the C1 of TNT. The resulting radical which is stabilized by resonance might evolve in two different ways. The first possibility would be a dimerization. The second possibility would be the formation of an epoxide followed by further hydroxylation of the aromatic ring prompting ring opening (see Fig. 3 for details). All these methods (Fenton-like systems) have been successfully used for the total degradation of TNT and it has been also shown that different and non-exhaustive mechanisms were involved during TNT degradation.

According to Liou et al. [47] the TNT degradation pathway using UV/Fenton process is expected to proceed in three phases: the first phase is the methyl group oxidation of TNT. The second phase is the decarboxylation of the aromatic acid, a mechanism that was previously reported by Urbanski [94]. The last phase is hydrolysis and mineralization of nitro groups on the aromatic ring, as reported by March [95] (see Fig. 4).

The TNT degradation mechanism, initiated by Liou et al. [49] in aqueous medium revealed five by-products, as TNB, dinitrotoluene (DNB), dinitrobenzoic acid (DNBA) and dinitrobenzene (DNB). Further oxidation involved the cleavage of aromatic ring and could be degraded gradually into final products of aliphatic organic acids, water and carbon dioxide, also reported by Zoh and Stenstrom [96] (see Fig. 4).

Using UV/Fenton, the TNT degradation pathway has been elucidated by Yardin and Chiron [50]. After successive TNT hydroxylations, oxidative opening of the TNT aromatic ring quickly occurred, leading to the accumulation of short chain of carboxylic acids such as oxalic acid and formic acid. LC/MS analysis in negative electrospray ionization mode revealed four major by-products. The by-product 1 was identified as 2,4,6-trinitrophenol after methyl substitution by alcohol moieties. Further hydroxylation led to the formation of the second by-product as 3-hydroxy-2,4,6-trinitrophenol. Finally an oxidative aromatic ring opening reaction at the level of the C–C bonds between adjacent hydroxyl and nitro groups leads to the formation of aliphatic compounds, mainly oxalic acids. As shown in Fig. 4, 2,4,6-trinitrobenzaldehyde, 2,4,6-trinitrobenzoic acid and 1,3,5-trinitrobenzene are the major by-products identified under photo Fenton process (see Fig. 4).

According to Schmelling and Gray [67], the TNT photocatalytic transformation involved both oxidative and reductive steps: trinitrobenzoic acid, trinitrobenzene and trinitrophenol were observed as oxidative intermediates species and 3,5-dinitroaniline was identified as a reduction product. However, the mechanism established by these authors (Fig. 5) indicates that only benzaldehyde and benzoic acid moieties have been reproduced and no reductive product has been reported as was presented in their work.



Fig. 2. Mechanisms degradation of TNT under Fenton process.



Fig. 3. Proposed degradation pathways of TNT by modified Fenton reaction.



Fig. 4. Mechanisms degradation of TNT under photo-Fenton process.

Moreover, Son et al. [68] did not identified aromatic intermediate compounds but only acetate and formate. NO_3^- constitutes the major by-products of both TNT photocatalysis and photolysis.

Thus one can observe in Table 5 that the main photocatalytic TNT degradation studies have been focused on comparing the rate between TiO_2 and UV/TiO_2 and the general pathways proposed remained classical and likely incomplete. However, Chen et al. [67] could identified 2,4,6-trinitrobenzoic acid, 2,4,6-trinitrobenzaldehyde, 1,3,5-trinitrobenzene as the main byproducts under UV/O_3 process (see Fig. 6).

Hoffman et al. [75] used ultrasonic irradiation and reported also, that trinitrobenzoic acid and trinitrobenzene (see Fig. 7), after a pyrolytic decarboxylation, were the major removal byproducts based on LC/MS analysis. However, the removal TNT study remained incomplete and like all the others studies; the mechanism was not extensively studied.

Doppalapudi et al. and Planiswamy et al. [76,77] concluded that the end-products identified for the electro chemical reduction, may reach 60–100% for the molar balance removal. These species are: two kinds of azoxy dimers and various amino substitutes like 2-amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene, 2,6-diamino-4-nitrotoluene, 4-amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene and 2,4-diamino-6-dinitrotoluene. As shown in Fig. 8, different ways have been reported, the reduction of nitro groups in NHOH and NH₂ and those of dimerization.

According to Chen and Liang [89], the plausible mineralization pathways of organic compounds by electro-Fenton oxidation are suggested as follows. Firstly, the denitratation of TNT results in 2,4-DNT and/or 2,6-DNT, of which nitro group is cleaved to form



Fig. 5. Reaction pathway for TNT oxidation under photocatalytic conditions.

Table 5

Identified by-products of TNT oxidation by various AOPs.

AOP method	By-products	References
Fenton	2,4,6-Trinitrobenzylalcohol and 2,4,6-trinitrobenzaldehyde,	[40]
	2,4,6-trinitro-cyclohexa-2,4-dienol and dinitro-hydroxy-benzaldehyde isomers	
Fenton	2,4,6-Trinitrobenzaldehyde, 2,4,6-trintrobenzoic acid, and 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene	[39]
Fenton	2,4,6-Trinitrobenzoic acid and 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene	[51,52]
Fe ⁰ and Fenton	Triaminotoluene	[112]
Fe ⁰ and Fenton	2-Nitrous-toluene and 2-nitrous-5-hydroxyl-toluene	[113]
Fenton like	Dimers of 1-hydroxy-2,4,6-trinitrotoluene, epoxide of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene.	[42]
Fenton like	4,6-Dinitro-o-cresol (DNOC), 3,5-dinitrophenyl-6-methylene-1-one,	[93]
	TNB-hydroperoxide, dinitrophenol, dihydroxynitrobenzene, phloroglucinol	
	(1,3,5-trihydroxybenzene).	
UV/Fenton	2,4,6-Trinitrophenol, 1,3-dihydroxy-trinitrotoluene, oxalic and formic acid	[50]
UV/Fenton	2,4,6-Trintrobenzoic acid, 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene, 2,4-dinitrobenzoic acid	[49]
	2,4-dinitrobenzene, formic and oxalic acids	
UV/Fenton	2,4,6-Trintrobenzaldehyde 2,4,6-trintrobenzoic acid, 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene and	[47]
	oxalic acid	
Photocatalysis by porphyrins	2,4,6-Trinitrobenzoic acid and 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene	[43]
Photocatalysis with TiO ₂ slurries	In aerobic conditions: 2,4,6-trinitrophenol, 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene,	[67]
	2,4,6-trinitrobenzoic acid and 3,5-dinitroaniline. In anaerobic conditions: NO3 ⁻ ,	
	NO_2^- and NH_4^+	
Photocatalysis with TiO_2 in the presence of H_2O_2	2,4,6-Trinitrobenzene	[66]
UV/03	2,4,6-Trinitrobenzaldehyde, 2,4,6-trinitrobenzoic acid and 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene	[71]
Ultrasonic irradiation	2,4,6-Trinitrobenzoic acid and 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene	[75]
Flectrochemical reduction	Under anoxic conditions: 2.6-diamino-4-nitrotoluene	[76]
	4-amino-2 6-dinitrotoluene 2 4-diamino-6-nitrotoluene	[70]
	2.2' 4.4'-tetrapitro-6.6'-azovutoluene and $4.2' 6.6'$ -tetrapitro- $2.4'$ -azovutoluene	
	Under oxic conditions: 2-amino-4 6-dinitrotoluene 4-amino-2 6-dinitrotoluene	
	2 2' 4 4'-tetranitro-6 6'-azoxytoluene and $4 2' 6 6'$ -tetranitro-2 4'-azoxytoluene	
Electrochemical reduction	2.6-Diamino-4-nitrotoluene 4-amino-2.6-dinitrotoluene	[77]
	2.4-diamino-6-nitrotoluene 2-amino-4-6-dinitrotoluene	[77]
	2,4-diamino-0-mitotolucne, 2-amino-4,0-dimitotolucne,	
	$2 4 6_{\text{triaminotoluone}} 22 6 6'_{\text{tetranitro}} 4 4'_{\text{arowytoluone}}$	
	4.2' + 6.6' tetranitro $2.4'$ arovitoluene and $2.2' + 4.4'$ tetranitro $-6.6'$ arovitoluene	
Electrochemical reduction	\mathbf{a}_{2} , \mathbf{b}_{0} - \mathbf{c}_{0} - \mathbf{a}_{2} - \mathbf{a}	[118]
	2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-	[110]
	Dathway 2 : 4.6 dinitro 2 aminotoluche, maninotoluche	
	triaminotoluene	
Electrochemical assisted photocatalytic degradation	2-Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene; 4, amino,2-6, dinitrotoluene; 1,3,5-trinitroibenzene;	[119]
	3, 5-dinitroaniline.	
Electro-Fenton	2,4-DNT and/or 2,6-DNT, o-mononitrotoluene, toluene, benzaldehyde and benzoic	[100]
	acid.	
Electro-Fenton	2,4-DNT and/or 2,6-DNT, o-mononitrotoluene, toluene, and benzoic acid.	[89]



Fig. 6. Reaction pathway for TNT oxidation under photo-ozonation conditions.

o-MNT. Subsequently, *o*-MNT is denitrated into toluene, which is successively oxidized to benzaldehyde. Finally, the decarboxylation of benzoic acid and the mineralization procedures followed lead to ultimate products of carbon dioxide, nitrate ion and water (see Fig. 9).

Also Murati et al. [90] have used Electro-Fenton for TNT degradation, however, the research paper of these authors is incomplete and the study by HPLC-DAD did not succeed to identify any TNT intermediates.

In summary the list of by-products formed, display in Table 5, shows that trinitrobenzoic acid and trinitrobenzene were the two most commonly observed by-products regardless of the AOPs techniques. It was proposed that the initial step in the reaction mechanism of Fenton, photo Fenton or photocatalytic transformation with TiO_2 processes was the methyl group oxidation followed by OH• attack to form after a decarboxylation the trinitrobenzene. Further oxidation of these intermediates produces a short and long chain structures leading finally to oxalic, formic and acetic acids [39,42,47,49,50,97–99].

According to Table 5, it is interesting to note that the similarities were observed in the degradation by-products by electrochemical reduction and biological degradation (2,6-diamino-4-nitrotoluene; 4-amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene, 2,4-diamino-6-nitrotoluene, 2-amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene, 2-hydroxylamino-4,6-dinitrotoluene,





Fig. 8. Proposed mechanisms for TNT transformation under electrochemical reduction process.



Fig. 9. Plausible reaction pathways for TNT oxidation in spent acid by electro-Fenton treatment.

4-hydroxylamino-2,6-dinitrotoluene, 2,4,6-triaminotoluene, 2,2', 6,6'-tetranitro-4,4'-azoxytoluene 4,2',6,6'-tetranitro-2,4'-azoxytoluene and 2,2',4,4'-tetranitro-6,6'-azoxytoluene and triamino-toluene). In both cases there is a reduction, but it seems that the mix proportions and the masses percentage of identified products differ.

Looking closely at the degradation products and mechanisms generated, it is surprising to find that Chen et al. [39,72] reproduced the same by-products and the same pattern of mineralization of TNT and 2,4-DNT under two different processes: UV/O₃ and Fenton. The same authors have also reproduced the same reaction pathways by electrochemical oxidation and electro-Fenton treatment in spent acid Chen and Liang [89,100]. We can attribute this similarity to the use of the same analytical tool which is the (GC/MS) in this case and may not be accurate to identify correctly the by-products formed.

It is important to note that during this bibliographic search, we did not found any work related to the study of toxic by-products of TNT produced by advanced oxidation processes. Considering a possible coupling between these processes and the biodegradation reduces the cost of chemical reagents and energy. Unfortunately, this route has not been well explored and further research should be done in this direction.

However, Schrader and Hess [101] have studied the coupled abiotic–biotic to Fenton modified reaction for TNT mineralization and demonstrated that 100% degradation could be obtained under each reaction condition (Fe^{3+} , H_2O_2 , acidic and neutral pH in modified and dark Fenton). Using this coupled reaction process, abiotic, dark-Fenton reaction), TNT mineralization at pH 3 was increased from 47 to 80% using a microbial biomass. Likewise, Kröger et al. [102] and Kröger and Fels [103] have studied the possibility of a combining biological–chemical process. However, in contrast to the studies starting with a chemical treatment, these authors presented the concept of a biological reduction of TNT prior to an oxidative chemical treatment by advanced oxidation process (photo-Fenton),

which seems to be the most appropriate approach towards mineralization of TNT (unfortunately, no data regarding TOC or COD were available).

6. Conclusions

This review constitutes a reference document in the field of TNT removal by advanced oxidation processes and will help the researchers to launch new technological devices and applications as well as promoting TNT degradation.

Fenton-based reactions are capable of extensively degrading TNT in a variety of aqueous solutions. Rigorous economic comparisons using an accepted standard measure of treatment efficiency are scarce. However, Fenton reactions can be performed at ambient temperature and do not require illumination, although they are usually enhanced by it. The reagents are readily available, easy to store, relatively safe to handle, and non-threatening to the environment. Biological wastewater treatment may be improved with the addition of a Fenton pre-treatment step. Drawbacks associated with the use of Fenton oxidation are the need to firstly reduce the pH, followed by a subsequent neutralisation. These drawbacks are intrinsic; others may be alleviated after further research and development. In addition, Fenton AOPs suffer from the same disadvantages that other hydroxyl radical-AOPs do: namely, they are susceptible to scavenging of hydroxyl radicals by non target substances (e.g., natural organic matter, halides), and are unsuitable for certain compounds (such as perchlorinated compounds) that resist attack by hydroxyl radicals. On the other hand more efforts are required to establish conclusively whether Fenton's reagent can be used efficiently for the treatment of complex real effluents especially in the presence of large amount of ionic species. Studies are required in this direction in terms of experimentation and development of kinetic models.

Overall it can be said that Fenton oxidation, by far, appears to be the best technology whereas photocatalytic appears to be little less efficient for TNT removal. Efforts are indeed required both on experimental front as well as kinetic modelling before application on large-scale is feasible with high degree of efficiency and lower treatment costs.

Acknowledgment

The authors are grateful to Dr. Sylvie Nélieu for the fruitful discussions they had on this work.

References

- [1] P.M. Bradley, F.H. Chapelle, J.E. Landmyer, J.G. Schumacher, Microbial transformation of nitroaromatics in surface soils and aquifer materials, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60 (1994) 2170-2175.
- [2] T. Lewis, D. Newcombe, R. Crawfold, Bioremediation of soils contaminated with explosives, J. Environ. Manage. 70 (2004) 291-307.
- [3] J.M. Conder, T.W. La Point, A.T. Bowen, Preliminary kinetics and metabolism of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene and its reduced metabolites in an aquatic oligochaete, Aquat. Toxicol. 69 (2004) 199-213.
- [4] J. Hawari, S. Beaudet, A. Halasz, S. Thiboutot, G. Ampleman, Microbial degradation of explosives: biotransformation versus mineralization, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 54 (2000) 605-618.
- [5] J.C. Spain, J.B. Hughes, H.J. Knackmuss (Eds.), Biodegradation of Nitroaromatics and Explosives, Lewis Publishers, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2000.
- [6] L.S. Hundal, P.J. Shea, S.D. Comfort, W.L. Powers, J. Singh, Long-term TNT sorption and bound residue formation in soil, J. Environ. Qual. 26 (1997) 896-904.
- [7] R. Alnaizy, A. Akkgerman, Oxidative treatment of high explosives contaminated wastewater, Water Res. 33 (1999) 2021-2030. [8] Edition of the Drinking Water Standards and Health Advisories, USEPA Office
- of Water, Washington, DC, 2006. [9] J. Yinon, Toxicity and Metabolism of Explosives, CRC Press, Inc, Boca Raton,
- Florida, USA, 1990, pp. 1–67. [10] A. Esteve-Nunes, A. Caballero, J.L. Ramos, Biological degradation of 2,4,6-
- trinitrotoluene, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 65 (2001) 335-352.
- [11] P.H. Howard, J. Santodonato, J. Saxena, J.E. Malling, D. Greninger, Investigations of selected potential environmental contaminants: nitroaromatics, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (Office of Toxic Subtances), Washington, DC, 1976 (EPA 560/2-76-010).
- [12] J.C. Pennington, W.J. Patrick, Adsorption and desorption of 2,4,6trinitrotoluene by soils, J. Environ. Qual. 19 (1990) 559-567.
- [13] S.D. Comfort, P.J. Shea, L.S. Hundal, Z. Li, B.L. Woodbury, J.L. Martin, W.L. Powers, TNT transport and fate in contaminated soil, J. Environ. Qual. 24 (1995) 1174-1182.
- [14] L.R. Krumholz, J. Li, W.W. Clarkson, G.G. Wilber, J.M. Suflita, Transformations of TNT and related aminotoluenes in groundwater aquifer slurries under different electron-accepting conditions, Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 18 (1997) 161-169.
- [15] T.W. Sheremata, S. Thiboutot, G. Ampleman, L. Paquet, A. Halasz, J. Hawari, Fate of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene and its metabolites in natural and model soil systems, Environ, Sci. Technol, 33 (1999) 4002-4008.
- [16] R. Martel, M. Mailloux, U. Gabriel, R. Lefebvre, S. Thiboutot, G. Ampleman, Behavior of energetic materials in ground water at an anti-tank range, J. Environ, Oual, 38 (2009) 75-92.
- G.K. Vasilyeva, V.D. Kreslavski, P.J. Shea, Catalytic oxidation of TNT by acti-[17] vated carbon, Chemosphere 47 (2002) 311-317.
- [18] A. Saupe, J. Garvens, L. Heinze, Alkaline hydrolysis of TNT and TNT in soil followed by thermal treatment of the hydrolysates, Chemosphere 36 (1998) 1725 - 1744
- [19] A. Mills, A. Seth, G. Peters, Alkaline hydrolysis of trinitrotoluene: TNT, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 5 (2003) 3921-3927.
- [20] M. Vidali, Bioremediation. An overview, Pure Appl. Chem. 73 (2001) 1163-1172
- [21] S.Y. Lee, B.W. Brodman, Biodegradation of 1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX), J. Environ. Sci. Health A 39 (2004) 61–75.
- [22] Z. Snellinx, A. Nepovim, S. Taghavi, J. Vangronsveld, T. Vanek, T. Van der Lelie, Biological remediation of explosives and related nitroaromatic compounds, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 9 (2002) 948-961.
- [23] J.L. Ramos, M.M. Gonzalez-Perez, A. Caballero, P. Dillewijn, Bioremediation of polynitrated aromatic compounds: plants and microbes put up a fight, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 16 (2005) 275-281.
- [24] A. Haïdour, J.L. Ramos, Identification of products resulting from the biological reduction of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene, 2,4-dinitrotoluene and 2,6-dinitrotoluene by Pseudomonas sp., Environ. Sci. Technol. 30 (1996) 2365-2370.
- [25] H.N. Banarjee, M. Verma, L.H. Hou, M. Ashraf, S.K. Dutta, Cytotoxicity of TNT and it's metabolites, Yale J. Biol. Med. 72 (1999) 1-4.
- [26] N.H. Ince, I.G. Apikyan, Combination of activated carbon adsorption with light enhanced temperature chemical oxidation via hydrogen peroxide, Water Res. 34 (2000) 4169-4176.
- S.A. Parsons, M. Williams, Introduction, in: S. Parsons (Ed.), Advanced Oxida-[27] tion Processes for Water and Wastewater Treatment, IWA Publishing, London, UK, 2004, pp. 1-6.

- [28] R.J. Bigda, Fenton's chemistry: an effective advanced oxidation process, Environ. Technol. 6 (1996) 34-39.
- [29] S.H. Bossmann, E. Oliveros, S. Göb, S. Siegwart, E.P. Dahlen, L. Payawan, New evidence against hydroxyl radicals as reactive intermediates in the thermal and photochemically enhanced Fenton reactions, J. Phys. Chem. A 102 (1998) 5542 - 5550
- [30] C. Walling, Intermediates in the reactions of Fenton type reagents, Acc. Chem. Res. 31 (1998) 155-157.
- [31] P.A. MacFaul, D.D.M. Wayner, K.U. Ingold, A radical account of oxygenated Fenton chemistry, Acc. Chem. Res. 31 (1998) 159-162.
- [32] J.J. Pignatello, D. Liu, P. Huston, Evidence for an additional oxidant in the photoassisted Fenton reaction, Environ. Sci. Technol. 33 (1999) 1832-1839.
- [33] C. Walling, K. Amarnath, Oxidation of mandelic acid by Fenton's reagent, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104 (1982) 1185-1189.
- [34] D.T. Sawyer, A. Sobkowiak, T. Matsushita, Metal [MLx=Fe, Cu, Co, Mn]/hydroperoxide induced activation of dioxygen for the oxygenation of hydrocarbons: oxygenated Fenton chemistry, Acc. Chem. Res. 29 (1996) 409-416
- [35] R. Chen, J.J. Pignatello, Role of quinone intermediates as electron shuttles in Fenton and photoassisted Fenton oxidations of aromatic compounds, Environ. Sci. Technol. 31 (1997) 2399-2406.
- [36] R. Venkatadri, R. Peters, Chemical oxidation technologies: ultraviolet light/hydrogen peroxide, Fenton's reagent, and titanium dioxide-assisted photocatalysis, Hazard. Waste Hazard. Mater. 10 (1993) 107-149.
- [37] R.J Bigda, Consider Fenton's chemistry for wastewater treatment, Chem. Eng. Process (1995) 62-66.
- [38] F.K. Nesheiwat, A.G. Swanson, Clean contaminated sites using Fenton's reagent, Chem. Eng. Process 96 (2000) 61-66.
- [39] W. Chen, C. Juan, K. Wei, Mineralization of di-nitrotoluene and trinitrotoluene of spent acid in toluene nitration by Fenton oxidation, Chemosphere 60 (2005) 1072 - 1079.
- [40] K. Ayoub, S. Nélieu, E. van Hullebusch, A. Maia-Grondard, M Cassir, A. Bermond, TNT oxidation by Fenton reaction monitored by LC-MS: kinetic and pathways, submitted for publication.
- [41] M.P. Titus, V. Garcia-Molina, M.A. Banos, J. Gimenz, S. Espalgas, Degradation of chlorophenols by means of advanced oxidation processes, Appl. Catal, B 47 (2004) 219-256.
- [42] R. Matta, K. Hanna, S. Chiron, Fenton-like oxidation of trinitrotoluene using different irons, Sci. Tot. Environ. 385 (2007) 242-251.
- [43] H.I. Harmon, Photocatalytic demethylation of 2.4.6-trinitrotoluene by porphyrins, Chemosphere 63 (2006) 1094-1097.
- [44] Y. Wu, C. Zhao, Q. Wang, K. Ding, Integrated effects of selected ions on 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene-removal by O3/H2O2, J. Hazard. Mater. 132 (2005) 232-236
- [45] S. Hwang, E. Bouwer, S. Larson, J. Davis, Decolorization of alkaline TNT hydrolysis effluents using UV/H₂O₂, J. Hazard. Mater. 108 (2004) 61–67. [46] Z.M. Li, P.J. Shea, S.D. Comfort, Nitrotoluene destruction by UV catalyzed,
- Fenton oxidation, Chemosphere 36 (1998) 1849-1865.
- [47] M.I. Liou, M.C. Lu, I.N. Chen, Oxidation of explosives by Fenton and photo Fenton processes, Water Res. 37 (2003) 3172-3179.
- [48] C. Walling, Fenton's revisited, Acc. Chem. Res. 8 (1957) 125-153.
- [49] M.J. Liou, M.C. Lu, J.N. Chen, Oxidation of TNT by photo Fenton process, Chemosphere 57 (2004) 1107-1114.
- [50] G. Yardin, S. Chiron, Photo Fenton treatment of TNT contaminated soil, Chemosphere 62 (2006) 1395-1402.
- [51] Z.M. Li, M. Peterson, S.D. Comfort, G. Horst, P.I. Shea, B. Oh, Remediating TNTcontaminated soil by soil washing and Fenton oxidation. Sci. Tot. Environ. 204 (1997) 107 - 115
- [52] Z.M. Li, S.D. Comfort, P.J. Shea, Destruction of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by Fenton oxidation, J. Environ. Qual. 26 (1997) 480-487.
- [53] M.A. Fox, M.T. Duley, Heterogeneous photocatalysis, Chem. Rev. 93 (1993) 341-357
- [54] O. Legrini, E. Oliveros, A.M. Braun, Photochemical process for water treatment, Chem. Rev. 93 (1993) 671-698.
- [55] M.R. Hoffmann, S.T. Martin, W. Choi, D.W. Behnemann, Environmental applications of semiconductor photocatalysis, Chem. Rev. 95 (1995) 69-96.
- [56] I. Mazzarino, P. Piccinin, L. Spinelli, Degradation of organic pollutants in water by photochemical reactors, Catal. Today 48 (1999) 315-321.
- [57] R. Bauer, Applicability of solar irradiation for photochemical wastewater treatment, Chemosphere 29 (1994) 1225-1233.
- [58] N.J. Peill, M.R. Hoffmann, Solar-powered photocatalytic fiberoptic cable reactor for waste stream remediation, J. Solar Energy Eng. 119 (1997) 229-236.
- [59] R. Bauer, H. Fallmann, The photo-Fenton oxidation-a cheap and efficient wastewater treatment method, Res. Chem. Intermed. 23 (1997) 341-354.
- [60] C. Guillard, J. Disdier, J.M. Herrmann, C. Lehaut, T. Chopin, S. Malato, J. Blanco, Comparison of various titania samples of industrial origin in the solar photocatalytic detoxification of water containing 4-chlorophenol, Catal. Today 54 (1999) 217-228.
- [61] R. Dillert, A.E. Cassano, R. Goslich, D. Bahnemann, Large scale studies in solar catalytic wastewater treatment, Catal. Today 54 (1999) 267-282.
- [62] H. Fallmann, T. Krutzler, R. Bauer, S. Malato, J. Blanco, Applicability of the photo-Fenton method for treating water containing pesticides, Catal. Today 54 (1999) 309-319.
- [63] J. Herrmann, J. Matos, J. Disdier, C. Guillard, J. Laine, S. Malato, Solar photocatalytic degradation of 4-chlorophenol using the synergistic effect between

titania and activated carbon in aqueous suspension, Catal. Today 54 (1999) 255–265.

- [64] A. Vidal, A.I. Díaz, A.E. Hraiki, M. Romero, I. Muguruza, F. Senhaji, Solar photocatalysis for detoxification and disinfection of contaminated water, Pilot Plant Study, Catal. Today 54 (1999) 283–290.
- [65] A.A. Yawalkar, D.S. Bhatkhande, V.G. Pangarkar, C.M. Beenackers, Solar assisted photochemical and photocatalytic degradation of phenol, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 76 (2001) 363–370.
- [66] R. Dillert, I. Fornefett, U. Siebers, D. Bahnemann, Photocatalytic degradation of trinitrotoluene and trinitrobenzene: influence of hydrogen peroxide, J. Photochem. Photobiol. A 94 (1996) 231–236.
- [67] D.C. Schmelling, K.A. Gray, Photocatalytic transformation and mineralization of 2,4,6 trinitrotoluene in TiO₂ Slurries, Water Res. 29 (1995) 2651–2662.
- [68] H. Son, S. Lee, I. Cho, K. Zoh, Kinetics and mechanism of TNT degradation in TiO₂ photocatalysis, Chemosphere 57 (2004) 309–317.
- [69] E. Kusvuran, O. Gulnazb, A. Samil, M. Erbil, Detection of double bond-ozone stoichiometry by an iodimetric method during ozonation processes, J. Hazard. Mater. 175 (2010) 410–416.
- [70] A.H. Riebel, R.E. Erickson, C.J. Abshire, P.S. Bailey, Ozonation of carbonnitrogen double bonds. I. Nucleophilic attack of ozone, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 82 (1960) 1801–1807.
- [71] W. Chen, C. Juan, K. Wei, Decomposition of dinitrotoluene isomers and 2,4,6trinitrotoluene in spent acid from toluene nitration process by ozonation and photo-ozonation, J. Hazard. Mater. 147 (2007) 97–104.
- [72] T.J. Mason, J. Lorimer, Sonochemistry: Theory Applications and Uses of Ultrasound in Chemistry, Ellis Norwood, New York, 1988.
- [73] W.T. Richards, A.L. Loomis, The chemical effects of high frequency sound waves I. A preliminary survey, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 49 (1927) 3086–3100.
- [74] A.C. Weissler, S.J. Snyder, Chemical effect of ultrasonic waves: oxidation of potassium iodide solution by carbon tetrachloride, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72 (1950) 1769–1775.
- [75] M. Hoffmann, I. Hua, R. Höchemer, Application of ultrasonic irradiation for the degradation of chemical contaminant in water, Ultrasonics Sonochem. 3 (1996) 163–172.
- [76] R. Doppalapudi, G. Sorial, S. Maloney, Electrochemical reduction of simulated munitions wastewater in a Bench-scale Batch reactor, Environ. Eng. Sci. 19 (2002) 203–218.
- [77] D. Palaniswamy, G. Sorial, S. Maloney, Electrochemical reduction of 2,4,6trinitrotoluene, Environ. Eng. Sci. 21 (2004) 115–130.
- [78] C. Ponce de Leon, D. Pletcher, Removal of formaldehyde from aqueous solution via oxygen reduction using a reticulated vitrous carbon cathode cell, J. Appl. Electrochem. 25 (1995) 307.
- [79] M.A. Oturan, J. Pinson, Hydroxylation by electrochemically generated OH° radicals. Mono- and polyhydroxylation of benzoic acid: products and isomer distribution, J. Phys. Chem. 99 (1995) 13948–13954.
- [80] E. Brillas, E. Mur, R. Sauleda, L. Sanchez, J. Peral, X. Domenech, J. Casadi, Aniline mineralization by AOP's: anodic oxidation, photocatalysis, electro-Fenton and photoelectron-Fenton processes, Appl. Catal. B Environ. 16 (1998) 31–42.
- [81] Alverez-Gallegos, D. Pletcher, The removal of low level organics via hydrogen peroxide formed in a reticulated vitreous carbon cathode cell, Part 2. The removal of phenols and related compounds from aqueous solutions, Electrochim. Acta 44 (1999) 2483–2492.
- [82] T. Harrington, D. Pletcher, Removal of low levels of organics from aqueous solutions using Fe(II) and hydrogen peroxide formed in situ at gas diffusion electrodes, J. Electrochem. Soc. 146 (1999) 2983–2989.
- [83] H. Gallard, J. De Laat, B. Legube, Influence du pH sur la vitesse d'oxydation de composés organiques par Fe(II)/H₂O₂. Mécanismes réactionnels et modélisation, New J. Chem. 22 (1998) 263–268.
- [84] B. Gözmen, M.A. Oturan, N. Oturan, O. Erbatur, Indirect electrochemical treatment of bisphenol A in water via electrochemically generated Fenton's reagent, Environ. Sci. Technol. 37 (2003) 3716–3723.
- [85] J. De Laat, H. Gallard, Catalytic decomposition of hydrogen peroxide by Fe(III) in homogeneous aqueous solution: mechanism and kinetic modelling, Environ. Sci. Technol. 33 (1999) 2726–2732.
- [86] W.P. Kwan, B.M. Voelker, Decomposition of hydrogen peroxide and organic compounds in the presence of dissolved iron and ferrihydrite, Environ. Sci. Technol. 36 (2002) 1467–1476.
- [87] Y. Sun, J.J. Pignatello, Photochemical reactions involved in the total mineralization of 2,4-D by Fe³⁺/H₂O₂/UV, Environ. Sci. Technol. 27 (1993) 304–310.
- [88] G.U. Buxton, C.L. Greenstock, W.P. Helman, A.B. Ross, Critical review of rate constants for reactions of hydrated electrons, hydrogen atoms and hydroxyl radicals (OH•/O•-) in aqueous solution, J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 17 (1988) 513–886.
- [89] W. Chen, J. Liang, Electrochemical destruction of dinitrotoluene isomers and 2, 4,6-trinitrotoluene in spent acid from toluene nitration process, J. Hazard. Mater. 161 (2009) 1017–1023.
- [90] M. Murati, N. Oturan, E. van Hullebusch, M.A. Oturan, Electro-Fenton treatment of TNT in aqueous media in presence of cyclodextrin. Application to ex-situ treatment of contaminated soil, J. Adv. Oxidat. Technol. 12 (2009) 29–36.

- [91] J.M. Brannon, T.E. Meyers, Review of fate and transport processes of explosives, technical Report IRRP-97-2, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS, 1997.
- [92] A. Juhasz, N. Ravendra, Explosives: Fate, Dynamics, and ecological impact in terrestrial and marine environment, Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 191 (2007) 163–215.
- [93] F. Hess, T. Renna, R. Watts, A. Paszczynski, Studies on nitroaromatic compound degradation in modified Fenton reaction by electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (ESI-MS-MS), Royal. Soc. Chem. 128 (2003) 156–160.
- [94] T. Urbanski, Chemistry and Technology of Explosives, vol. 1, Pergamon press, New York, 1964, pp. 291–295.
- [95] J. March, Advance Organic Chemistry, 3rd ed., Wiley, Canada, 1985.
- [96] K.D. Zoh, M.K. Stenstrom, Fenton oxidation of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5triazine (RDX) and octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine (HMX), Water Res. 36 (2002) 1331–1341.
- [97] P.C. Ho, Photooxidation of 2,4-dinitrotoluene in aqueous solution in the presence of hydrogen peroxide, Environ. Sci. Technol. 20 (1986) 260–267.
- [98] K. Tanaka, W. Luesaiwong, T. Hisanga, Photocatalytic degradation of monodi- and trinitrophenol in aqueous TiO₂ suspension, J. Mol. Catal. A 122 (1997) 67-74.
- [99] R. Larson, T. Jafvert, F. Bosca, A. Marley, L. Miller, Effects of surfactants on reduction and photolysis (>290 nm) of nitroaromatic compounds, Environ. Sci. Technol. 34 (2000) 505–508.
- [100] W. Chen, J. Liang, Decomposition of nitrotoluenes from trinitrotoluene manufacturing process by electro-Fenton oxidation, Chemosphere 72 (2008) 601–607.
- [101] S. Schrader, T. Hess, Bioremediation and biodegradation: coupled abioticbiotic Mineralization of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene TNT in soil slurry, J. Environ. Qual. 33 (2004) 1202–1209.
- [102] M. Kröger, M. Schumacher, H. Risse, G. Fels, Biological reduction as a part of a combined biological-Chemical procedure for the mineralization, J. Biodegrad. 15 (2004) 241–245.
- [103] M. Kröger, G. Fels, Combined biological-chemical procedure for the mineralization of TNT, J. Biodegrad. 18 (2007) 413–425.
- [104] H. Ek, Hazard assessment of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene TNT from dumped ammunition in the sea, PhD, Göteborg University, Department of Environmental Science and Conservation, Göteberg University, 2005.
- [105] H.C. Bailey, R.J. Spanggord, H.S. Javitz, D.H.W. Liu, Toxicity of TNT wastewaters to aquatic organisms, Final report, vol. III, Chronic toxicity of LAP wastewater and 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene, AD-A164 282, SRI International, Menlo Park, CA, 1985.
- [106] R.W. Parmelee, R.S. Wentsel, C.T. Phillips, M. Simini, R. Checkai, Soil microcosm for testing the effects of chemical pollutants on soil fauna communities and trophic structure, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 12 (1993) 1477–1486.
- [107] T. Snell, B. Moffat, A 2-d life cycle test with the rotifer Brachionus calyciflorus, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 11 (1992) 1249–1257.
- [108] D.H.W. Liu, H.C. Bailey, J.G. Pearson, Toxicity of a complex munitions wastewater to aquatic organisms. In: W.E. Bishop, R.D. Cardwell, B.B. Heidolph (Eds.), Aquatic Toxicology and Hazard Assessment: Sixth Symposium, ASTM STP 802, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, 1983, pp. 135–150.
- [109] L. Smock, D. Stoneburner, R. Clark, The toxic effects of trinitrotoluene (TNT) and its primary degradation products on two species of algae and the fathead minnow, Water Res. 10 (1976) 537–543.
- [110] L. Liou, M. Lu, Catalytic degradation of nitroaromatic explosives with Fenton's reagent, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 277 (2007) 155–163.
- [111] M. Arienzo, Degradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene in water and soil slurry utilizing a calcium peroxide compound, Chemosphere 40 (2000) 331–337.
- [112] S.Y. Oh, P.C. Chiu, B.J. Kim, D.K. Cha, Enhancing Fenton oxidation of TNT and RDX through pretreatment with zero-valent iron, Water Res. 37 (2003) 4275–4283.
- [113] M. Rodrigues, F. Silva, T. Paiva, Combined zero-valent iron and Fenton processes for the treatment of Brazilian TNT industry wastewater, J. Hazard. Mater. 165 (2009) 1224–1228.
- [114] M. Arienzo, Oxidizing 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene with pyrite-H₂O₂ suspensions, Chemosphere 39 (1999) 1629–1638.
- [115] R. Matta, K. Hanna, K. Tiangoua, S. Chiron, Oxidation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene in the presence of different iron-bearing minerals at natural pH, J. Chem. Eng. 144 (2008) 453–458.
- [116] D.C. Schmelling, K.A. Gray, P. Kamat, The influence of solution matrix on the photocatalytic degradation of TNT, Water Res. 31 (1997) 1439–1447.
- [117] S. Lee, H. Son, H. Lee, K. Zoh, Photocatalytic degradation of explosives contaminated water, Water Sci. Technol. 46 (2002) 139–145.
- [118] I. Grigoriants, B. Markovsky, R. Persky, I. Perelshtein, A. Gedanken, D. Aurbach, B. Filanovsky, T. Bourenko, I. Felner, Electrochemical reduction of trinitrotoluene on core-shell tin–carbon electrodes, Electrochem. Acta 54 (2008) 690–697.
- [119] D.C. Schmelling, K.A. Gray, P. Kamat, Role of reduction in the photocatalytic degradation of TNT, Environ. Sci. Technol. 30 (1996) 2547–2555.
- [120] M. Barreto-Rodrigues, F.T. Silva, T.C.B. Paiva, Optimization of Brazilian TNT industry wastewater treatment using combined zero-valent iron and fenton processes, J. Hazard. Mater. 168 (2009) 1065–1069.